

# WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 1345 / JUNE 2011

NUT WELLEVE THE PARTY OF THE PA

ECB LAMFALUSSY FELLOWSHIP PROGRAMME

SYSTEMIC RISK-TAKING AMPLIFICATION EFFECTS, EXTERNALITIES, AND REGULATORY RESPONSES

by Anton Korinek



# WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 1345 / JUNE 2011

ECB LAMFALUSSY FELLOWSHIP PROGRAMME

# SYSTEMIC RISK-TAKING

# AMPLIFICATION EFFECTS, EXTERNALITIES, AND REGULATORY RESPONSES '

by Anton Korinek<sup>2</sup>

NOTE: This Working Paper should not be reported as representing the views of the European Central Bank (ECB). The views expressed are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect those of the ECB.











This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract\_id=1838600.

I This paper has been prepared by the author under the Lamfalussy Fellowship Program sponsored by the ECB. The author would like to thank Julien Bengui, Claudio Borio, Sudipto Bhattacharya, Fernando Broner, Markus Brunnermeier, Stefano Corradin, Allen Drazen, John Driffill, Emmanuel Farhi, Matteo Iacoviello, Olivier Jeanne, Philipp Hartmann, Nobuhiro Kiyotaki, Arvind Krishnamurthy, Pete Kyle, Christoph Memmel, Enrique Mendoza, Marcus Miller, Tommaso Monacelli, Alan Morrison, John Shea, Joseph Stiglitz, Martin Summer, Elif Ture, Carlos Végh, Wolf Wagner and Michael Woodford as well as participants at the 2010 AEA, FIRS, NFA Meetings, conferences at the BIS, CESifo/Bundesbank, CEPR/Bundesbank, CREI/CEPR, ECB, LFN, Wharton and seminars at the Atlanta Fed, BIS, BoE, Boston Fed, CEU, Gerzensee, IIES Stockholm, IMF, NY Fed, OeNB, Princeton, St. Louis Fed, Toulouse, University of Maryland and World Bank as well as an anonymous referee at the ECB Working Paper series for helpful discussions and comments. 2 University of Maryland, College Park, 4118F Tydings Hall, MD 20742, USA; e-mail: akorinek@umd.edu This paper has been produced under the ECB Lamfalussy Fellowship programme. This programme was launched in 2003 in the context of the ECB-CFS Research Network on "Capital Markets and Financial Integration in Europe". It aims at stimulating high-quality research on the structure, integration and performance of the European financial system.

The Fellowship programme is named after Baron Alexandre Lamfalussy, the first President of the European Monetary Institute. Mr Lamfalussy is one of the leading central bankers of his time and one of the main supporters of a single capital market within the European Union.

Each year the programme sponsors five young scholars conducting a research project in the priority areas of the Network. The Lamfalussy Fellows and their projects are chosen by a selection committee composed of Eurosystem experts and academic scholars. Further information about the Network can be found at <u>http://www.eu-financial-system.org</u> and about the Fellowship programme under the menu point "fellowships".

#### © European Central Bank, 2011

#### Address

Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

#### Postal address

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

#### **Telephone** +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.europa.eu

## Fax

+49 69 1344 6000

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author.

Information on all of the papers published in the ECB Working Paper Series can be found on the ECB's website, http://www. ecb.europa.eu/pub/scientific/wps/date/ html/index.en.html

ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

# CONTENTS

Abstract			4
Non-technical summary			5
1	Intr	6	
2	Model		10
3	Decentralized equilibrium 3.1 Backward induction:		14
		period 1 equilibrium	14
	3.2	Period 0 financing decisions	16
4	Welfare analysis		20
	4.1	0	
		reduction in fire sales	20
	4.2	Planning problem	21
5	Applications		28
	5.1	Bailout neutrality	29
	5.2	Macroprudential regulation	30
	5.3	Raising new capital	34
6	Conclusions		35
References			37
Appendices			39

#### Abstract

This paper analyzes the efficiency of risk-taking decisions in an economy that is prone to systemic risk, captured by financial amplification effects that occur in response to strong adverse shocks. It shows that decentralized agents who have unconstrained access to a complete set of Arrow securities choose to expose themselves to such risk to a socially inefficient extent because of pecuniary externalities that are triggered during financial amplification. The paper develops an externality pricing kernel that quantifies the state-contingent magnitude of such externalities and provides welfaretheoretic foundations for macro-prudential policy measures to correct the distortion. Furthermore, it derives conditions under which agents employ ex-ante risk markets to fully undo any expected government bailout. Finally, it finds that constrained market participants face socially insufficient incentives to raise more capital during episodes of financial amplification.

**JEL Codes:** E44, G13, G18, D62, H23

**Keywords:** financial amplification, systemic risk, systemic externalities, externality pricing kernel, macroprudential regulation, bailout neutrality

#### **Non-technical Summary**

In the aftermath of the 2008 global financial crisis, economists, policymakers and society at large have sought to understand why the global financial system had allocated risks so poorly that the decline of housing prices led to massive financial disruption. This happened despite a widespread belief that financial innovation in the decade before the crisis had led to an unprecedented ability of spreading risk to those agents in the economy that were most capable of bearing it.

Our paper contributes to answering this question by showing that financial market participants generically find it optimal to take on an excessive amount of systemic risk. We describe systemic risk as the danger of economy-wide financial feedback effects whereby adverse economic shocks force market participants to sell assets in order to raise liquidity, and the sales in turn push down asset prices and force them to sell even more of their asset holdings. On the productive side of the economy, this is mirrored in declines in output.

In such a situation, individual market participants rationally take the prevailing level of asset prices as given and do not internalize that their fire sales in aggregate contribute to the asset price declines. As a result of this externality, individual market participants take on excessive systemic risks. Even though they may have access to a complete market to insure against systemic risk, they insure to a socially inefficient extent because when they trade off the costs and benefits of insurance, they do not internalize the social benefits of insurance in the form of mitigating the economy-wide fire sales. By contrast, a policymaker has the capacity to internalize this externality and make everybody better off by inducing financial market participants to reduce their systemic risk-taking. This in turn will lead to lower fire sales, smaller price declines and greater macroeconomic stability.

Our paper develops the concept of an externality pricing kernel that can be used to price the externalities imposed by risky investments and that provides a theoretical basis for macroprudential capital adequacy requirements to regulate systemic risk-taking. Furthermore, it derives a bailout neutrality result, i.e. it gives conditions under which market participants who have access to complete financial markets will employ these markets to fully undo any expected government bailout by simply increasing their exposure to those risks that they expect to be bailed out.

Finally, the paper finds that the externalities that lead to excessive systemic risk-taking also imply that market participants face socially insufficient incentives to raise more capital when they suffer losses during episodes of systemic risk. This provides a theoretical rationale for compulsory recapitalizations.

# 1 Introduction

This paper develops a simple model of systemic risk in the form of financial amplification effects that arise in response to strong adverse shocks. Risk-neutral bankers raise finance from households and invest in risky projects. When the aggregate return on the projects is low, their liquid net worth is insufficient to meet the contracted repayments and financial constraints force them to engage in fire sales, i.e. they sell some of the projects at a price that is below their marginal product. This triggers financial amplification effects: the more bankers sell, the larger the decline in asset prices and the lower the amount of liquidity they raise from a given amount of sales, requiring in turn further sales to meet a given repayment obligation (see figure 1). We characterize the resulting downward spiral in the economy as systemic risk.<sup>1</sup>

Ex ante, the privately optimal financial contract for bankers trades off the efficiency cost of fire sales against the premium demanded by households for taking on aggregate risk. Individual bankers do not internalize their contribution to aggregate price declines and therefore impose pecuniary externalities on each other when they engage in fire sales. This induces them to take on socially excessive systemic risk in their ex ante financing decisions.<sup>2</sup>

We employ our model to shed light on a number of policy issues that have been debated in the aftermath of the recent financial crisis:

First, we develop a theoretical framework of macro-prudential regulation that induces individual bankers to internalize their contribution to systemic risk. We characterize an externality pricing kernel that captures the state-contingent magnitude of systemic externalities and that can be used to price the externalities imposed by financial claims or real investment opportunities. In states when financial constraints are loose, the externality kernel is zero; in constrained states the externality kernel captures the social cost of amplification effects created by a unit payoff. A policymaker who charges a Pigovian tax to offset the externalities or imposes equivalent regulatory measures on bankers can restore constrained Pareto efficiency in the economy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This is in accordance with the description of systemic risk by the Bank for International Settlements: exogenous shocks to financial institutions that have common risk exposure are endogenously amplified because of wide-spread financial distress (see e.g. Borio, 2003, for a discussion).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>There is a clear analogy to more traditional forms of externalities: for example, an entrepreneur who creates pollution derives private benefits from his activities, but society at large bears some of the costs. In our example, a banker who exposes himself to the risk of fire-sales obtains higher profits in good states of nature, but the economy at large suffers from the amplification effects that are triggered by fire-sales in bad states of nature. If he limited his risk-taking, he would bear all the costs in terms of foregone profits, but the economy at large would benefit from the mitigation of fire sales and from greater financial stability.



Figure 1: Financial amplification under binding financial constraints

Second, we derive a bailout neutrality result: we show that unregulated bankers will employ ex-ante risk markets to fully undo any expected lump-sum government transfer that aims to mitigate financial amplification effects. Undoing such transfers is optimal for bankers since the equilibrium with excessive systemic risk constitutes their private optimum.

Third, we find that individual bankers undervalue the social benefits of raising capital during systemic crises because they do not internalize the positive effects of reducing their fire sales on the rest of the banking system. This provides a policy rationale for mandatory capital injections.

Our paper also illustrates the conceptual difference between systematic risk and systemic risk: Bankers in our model are always subject to systematic risk (i.e. to aggregate, undiversifiable market risk). However, systemic risk only arises when the banking sector as a whole experiences binding financial constraints and financial amplification effects are triggered.

The setting in which we describe our results is an economy with three time periods t = 0, 1, 2 and two types of agents, bankers and households. The economy experiences an aggregate shock that is realized at the beginning of period 1. Bankers are risk-neutral and raise finance in a complete market of Arrow securities in period 0 for a lumpy investment project that yields a risky payoff in period 1 and a safe payoff in period 2. As in Kiyotaki and Moore (1997), we assume that financial promises need to be secured and that bankers can use the asset value of the project as collateral, but not the contemporary return.<sup>3</sup> This implies that bankers do have collateral to back up the Arrow securities due in period 1, but they cannot commit to repayments in period 2 since the asset value of all projects is zero in the final period – no borrowing between periods 1 and 2 can be sustained. However, bankers can raise finance in period 1 by selling a fraction of their projects at the prevailing market price to the household sector. In period 2, bankers consume the payoff on their remaining

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ Kiyotaki and Moore (1997), building on Hart and Moore (1994), motivate this by observing that the owners of a project could threaten to withdraw their labor and thereby destroy the contemporary return.

asset holdings and perish.

Households come in two generations. First-generation households live from period 0 to 1 and provide finance to bankers in the market for Arrow securities. They are risk-averse so their demand for securities contingent on a particular state of nature is downward-sloping. This makes it costly for bankers to share risk with them. Second-generation households are risk-neutral, live from period 1 to 2 and have access to a technology that employs the assets of bankers but that is less productive and subject to decreasing returns-to-scale. Therefore the asset demand of second-generation households is downward-sloping, and it is costly for bankers to sell assets.

If the initial investment requirement of bankers is sufficiently small, they promise a fixed payment to first-generation households, which they finance from their period 1 payoff. They absorb all aggregate risk and do not engage in fire sales in period 1. In this case the decentralized equilibrium in the economy is socially efficient.

For a larger initial investment requirement, the period 1 payoff of bankers in low states of nature does not allow them to make a fixed payment to first-generation households without engaging in costly asset sales. Bankers therefore need to find the optimal trade-off between costly risk sharing with first-generation households and asset sales at a price below their marginal product to second-generation households.

Our main result is that bankers in the decentralized equilibrium of the described economy insure too little in ex ante risk markets and engage in excessive fire sales in ex post asset markets once an adverse shock has materialized. The reason for this distortion is that atomistic bankers take prices in the economy as given and do not internalize the pecuniary externalities that their fire sales give rise to. Under complete markets pecuniary externalities do not have efficiency implications because the relative marginal valuations of all goods among all agents in the economy are equated so that a redistribution cannot achieve a Pareto improvement. In the described setting, by contrast, binding financial constraints imply that bankers value productive assets more highly than households. A constrained social planner internalizes that reducing fire sales keeps asset prices more elevated, which mitigates the financial constraints on bankers. (By contrast, atomistic bankers just take asset prices as given.) Therefore the planner engages in more ex ante insurance and fewer fire sales than decentralized agents.

Our inefficiency result relies crucially on the assumption that bankers cannot borrow against the payoffs of their asset holdings in the final period. Otherwise bankers would be the natural holders of all assets, since they have the most productive technology to operate them, fire sales would not occur, and the equilibrium would be efficient. Furthermore, our finding relies on the assumption that second-generation households are not alive in period 0 and cannot provide risk-neutral insurance in that period. Otherwise bankers in period 0 would fully insure against having to engage in fire sales in period 1 and would achieve a Pareto efficient allocation.

Literature Our work builds on the literature on financial amplification and fire sales as described by Fisher (1933), Bernanke and Gertler (1990), Shleifer and Vishny (1997) or Kiyotaki and Moore (1997). Specifically, our model is a simplified version of Kiyotaki and Moore (1997). In this literature, it is common to assume that financially constrained bankers/entrepreneurs only have access to uncontingent forms of finance. If they had access to complete and risk-neutral insurance markets, bankers/entrepreneurs would fully insure against the risk of becoming constrained and no financial amplification effects would occur in case of adverse shocks (Krishnamurthy, 2003). This paper shows that risk aversion among the providers of finance is sufficient to break this result, as bankers trade off the costs of binding financial constraints and of purchasing insurance and choose an interior optimum.

The paper also builds on the literature on the generic inefficiency of the decentralized equilibrium under incomplete markets (Hart, 1975; Stiglitz, 1982; Geanakoplos and Polemarchakis, 1986), which includes more recent seminal contributions by Gromb and Vayanos (2002), Caballero and Krishnamurthy (2003) and Lorenzoni (2008). Gromb and Vayanos (2002) analyze financially constrained arbitrageurs and show that they generally fail to engage in the socially efficient amount of arbitrage between two risky assets because they do not internalize the pecuniary externalities involved in fire sales when financial constraints are binding. Aside from the two risky assets, arbitrageurs in their model only have access to uncontingent bonds.

In Caballero and Krishnamurthy (2003) and Lorenzoni (2008), entrepreneurs raise finance for a risky investment project in a risk-neutral security market and face the risk of binding financial constraints in a subsequent period. Caballero and Krishnamurthy (2003) investigate the financing and investment decisions in a small open emerging economy in which binding future constraints result in exchange rate depreciations. Lorenzoni (2008) focuses on the aggregate level of investment in a simplified Kiyotaki-Moore economy similar to ours, in which binding constraints lead to fire sales and asset price declines. In both works, entrepreneurs engage in excessive investment because of pecuniary externalities that arise from future binding constraints.

However, their results rely on the assumption that binding financial constraints in the initial security market prevent optimal insurance against future shocks: in Caballero and Krishnamurthy (2003), entrepreneurs would like to commit to higher repayments in good states of nature, but limited collateral prevents them from doing so; in Lorenzoni (2008), entrepreneurs would like to purchase more insurance against low states of nature, but limited

commitment prevents the sellers of insurance from providing it.<sup>4</sup>

In our paper, by contrast, bankers have access to a complete and unconstrained Arrow security market in the initial period, which they can use to share risk with risk-averse households. The explicit focus on the unconstrained trade-off between risk and return makes our framework well suited for studying optimal risk-taking and price-based macroprudential regulation of systemic externalities. Furthermore, we present a number of additional new results, including on the ex-ante effects of bailout transfers and on the incentives for constrained bankers to raise new capital.

A number of recent empirical papers document the importance of financial amplification effects. For example, Adrian and Brunnermeier (2008) show that VaR – a measure for the riskiness of a financial institution's assets – rises strongly when another institution is in distress. They also document that financial institutions that increase their exposure to systemic risk raise their expected return, consistent with our theoretical model. Adrian and Shin (2010) find that leverage among investment banks is strongly pro-cyclical, implying that they take on more risk in good times and sell off risky assets in bad times. Benmelech and Bergman (2011) provide evidence for fire-sale externalities in the airline sector.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. The following section describes our model setup. Section 3 analyzes the decentralized equilibrium of the economy and the dynamics of financial amplification when financing constraints are binding. Section 4 analyzes the social efficiency of the decentralized equilibrium and presents a new framework of macroprudential regulation. In section 5 we study extensions of our baseline model to develop our results on bailout neutrality and on the incentives for raising capital. Section 6 concludes. The appendix contains a detailed discussion of some of the technical assumptions and proofs of our model.

# 2 Model

Our model economy consists of three time periods t = 0, 1, 2 and is inhabited by two categories of atomistic agents, bankers and households. Banking entrepreneurs represent the consolidated productive sector of the economy and could alternatively be interpreted as entrepreneurs – the important characteristic is that they make financing decisions and are subject to business risk and financial constraints. We will call them in short "bankers."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>One important implication of this setup is that sufficient provision of public liquidity would address the imperfections in the security market and would restore constrained social efficiency as in Holmström and Tirole (1998). This would not help in our setup.

Households come in two generations; they are less productive than bankers, but they receive endowments and therefore have the ability to provide finance to bankers. There are two types of goods, a homogeneous consumption good and a productive asset. In period 1, a random state of nature  $\omega \in \Omega$  is realized, where  $\Omega$  is a set of all possible outcomes. The productivity of bankers' assets in period 1 is given by a random variable  $A_1^{\omega}$ , which is continuously distributed over the interval  $[A^{\min}, A^{\max}] \subseteq \mathbb{R}^+$  with density function g(A), and which satisfies the normalization  $E[A_1^{\omega}] = \overline{A}_1 = 1$ .

**Bankers** Bankers are risk-neutral and value consumption in periods 1 and 2 according to the function

$$V = E[c_{1,b}^{\omega} + c_{2,b}^{\omega}]$$
 (1)

where we use the subindex 'b' for banker-specific consumption variables. In period 0, they have access to a lumpy investment technology that allows them to invest  $\alpha t_1$  consumption goods and obtain  $t_1$  units of productive capital goods. We can think of this as planting a seed that costs  $\alpha$  on  $t_1$  units of land each. (We will discuss a generalization of this later.) They have no endowment, so they need to finance their period 0 investment by selling financial claims in a complete one-period market of Arrow securities contingent on the state of nature  $\omega \in \Omega$ . We denote the amount to be repaid in state  $\omega$  of period 1 as  $b_1^{\omega}$  and the stochastic discount factor (or pricing kernel) at which the claims are priced in period 0 as  $m_1^{\omega}$ . The resulting period 0 budget constraint is

$$\alpha t_1 = E\left[m_1^{\omega} b_1^{\omega}\right] \tag{2}$$

In period 1, each unit of the capital good produces a stochastic net dividend  $A_1^{\omega}$ , which depends on the state of nature  $\omega$ ,

Bankers are subject to a commitment problem that limits what they can pledge to repay. Specifically, we follow Kiyotaki and Moore (1997) in assuming that when they enter financial contracts, they can only pledge the market value but not the dividend income of their asset holdings next period.<sup>5</sup> Since the economy ends after period 2, the asset price ex dividend is zero in that period and bankers have no collateral to pledge in period 1, i.e. no borrowing between periods 1 and 2 can be sustained. We therefore set w.l.o.g.  $b_2^{\omega} = 0$ . Following the same argument, bankers do have collateral to offer between periods 0 and 1, which they use to back up their promises  $b_1^{\omega}$ .

In period 1, bankers cannot borrow, but they have access to a market in which they can trade their productive assets at price  $q_1^{\omega}$ . As we will see below, the asset sales of bankers in

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ Kiyotaki and Moore (1997) motivate this by the notion that bankers could threaten to withdraw their labor in the period in which lenders try to seize the asset, which would destroy all contemporaneous output.

this market share certain characteristics of fire-sales; therefore we denote the quantity that bankers sell as fire-sales  $f_1^{\omega}$ .

We make two simplifying assumptions, which are formalized in appendix A.1: First we assume that the collateral of bankers in period 1 is always sufficient to back up their optimal period 0 financial promises  $b_1^{\omega}$ . Second, we assume that the initial investment requirement  $\alpha t_1$  is sufficiently low that bankers' optimal fire sales satisfy  $f_1^{\omega} \leq t_1 \forall \omega$ . We can therefore omit the two constraints on period 0 borrowing and on fire sales from the maximization problem below. However, note that neither assumption is critical to obtain the basic results of our paper.

Accounting for the promised repayment  $b_1^{\omega}$  on the Arrow securities that they issued, the period 1 budget constraint of bankers is

$$c_{1,b}^{\omega} + b_1^{\omega} = A_1^{\omega} t_1 + q_1^{\omega} f_1^{\omega} \tag{3}$$

Given their linear preferences, bankers would like to substitute consumption between periods 1 and 2 at a rate of unity. We impose a non-negativity constraint on period 1 consumption  $c_{1,b}^{\omega} \geq 0$  to prevent them from using this device to circumvent the borrowing constraint that they face.

In period 2, bankers employ their remaining asset holdings  $(t_1 - f_1^{\omega})$  in production, and they consume the resulting output  $c_{2,b}^{\omega} = \bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1^{\omega})$ , where  $\bar{A}_2 > \bar{A}_1$  since period 2 reflects the entire future of the economy. The resulting optimization problem for bankers is

$$\max_{\{b_1^{\omega}, c_{1,b}^{\omega}, f_1^{\omega}\}} E\left[c_{1,b}^{\omega} + \bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1^{\omega})\right] \quad \text{s.t.} \ (2), \ (3) \text{ and } c_{1,b}^{\omega} \ge 0 \tag{4}$$

**First-Generation Households** We assume that there are two generations of households that live for two periods each. The first generation lives across periods 0 and 1. They are risk averse and derive utility from consumption according to the function

$$U^{\omega} = u(c_{0,h}) + E[u(c_{1,h}^{\omega})]$$

where  $u(\cdot)$  is a standard neo-classical utility function. We use the sub-index 'h' for firstgeneration households. They receive an endowment e every period that satisfies  $e > \alpha t_1$ . In period 0 they buy a bundle  $\{b_{1,h}^{\omega}\}$  of Arrow securities that offer a contingent repayment  $b_{1,h}^{\omega}$ in period 1. Given the stochastic discount factor  $\{m_1^{\omega}\}$  at which Arrow securities are priced in the market, the total outlay of first generation households in period 0 is  $E[m_1^{\omega}b_{1,h}^{\omega}]$ .

We denote their optimization problem as

$$\max_{\{b_{1,h}^{\omega}\}} u\left(e - E[m_1^{\omega} b_{1,h}^{\omega}]\right) + E\left[u(e + b_{1,h}^{\omega})\right]$$
(5)

The Euler equation that captures their demand for Arrow securities contingent on state  $\omega$  is

$$FOC(b_1^{\omega}): \ m_1^{\omega} = \frac{u'(c_{1,h}^{\omega})}{u'(c_{0,h})}$$
(6)

Demand for Arrow securities is downward-sloping, implying that  $dm_1^{\omega}/db_{1,h}^{\omega} < 0$ . Furthermore, we assume that the functional form of  $u(\cdot)$  and the parameters of the model are such that  $dm_1^{\omega}b_{1,h}^{\omega}/db_{1,h}^{\omega} > 0$ . The technical condition for this is listed as assumption A.2 in the appendix.

*Remark:* First generation households could alternatively be interpreted as entrepreneurs who are unconstrained and who have a competing use for funds in a concave production technology that mirrors the concave utility function of households.

**Second-Generation Households** Second generation households live from period 1 to period 2. They value consumption according to the linear utility function

$$W = E\left[c_{1,l}^{\omega} + c_{2,l}^{\omega}\right]$$

where the sub-index 'l' denotes variables of second-generation households. They receive an endowment e every period and buy  $f_{1,l}^{\omega}$  productive assets at the given market price  $q_1^{\omega}$  in period 1. As in Lorenzoni (2008), they employ their asset holdings in period 2 production using a decreasing returns-to-scale production function  $F(\cdot)$  that satisfies  $F'(0) = \bar{A}_2$  and F'' < 0, i.e. their marginal productivity is equal to the productivity of bankers at zero, but declines in the amount of assets purchased – households are less productive than bankers for any positive amount of assets employed.

The resulting optimization problem for second generation households is

$$\max_{\{f_{1,l}^{\omega}\}} E\left[\left(e - q_1^{\omega} f_{1,l}^{\omega}\right) + \left(e + F(f_{1,l}^{\omega})\right)\right]$$

$$\tag{7}$$

The first-order condition yields the demand for productive assets

$$q_1^{\omega} = F'(f_{1,l}^{\omega}) \tag{8}$$

Their demand function is downward-sloping, implying that  $dq_1^{\omega}/df_{1,l}^{\omega} < 0$ . Furthermore, we assume the functional form of  $F(\cdot)$  and the parameters of the model are such that the amount spent on asset purchases is strictly increasing in  $f_{1,l}^{\omega}$ , i.e.  $dq_1^{\omega}f_{1,l}^{\omega}/df_{1,l}^{\omega} > 0$ . The technical condition for this is described in assumption A.3 in the appendix.

The strictly monotonic relationship between the quantity f of assets purchased and the amount spent on such purchases  $s = f \cdot q = f \cdot F'(f)$  allows us to define a function f(s) that expresses the amount of asset purchases resulting from an amount  $s \ge 0$  spent on such purchases as the implicit solution to

$$s = f(s) \cdot F'(f(s)) \tag{9}$$

For later use, we define f(s) = 0 for s < 0. We denote the corresponding asset price function q(s) = F'(f(s)). If bankers fire-sell all their productive assets, the asset price declines to  $q^{\min} = F'(t_1)$  and they could raise a maximum amount

$$s^{\max} = t_1 q^{\min} = t_1 \cdot F'(t_1)$$

The functions f(s) and q(s) are therefore both defined over the interval  $(-\infty, s^{\max}]$ . For nonpositive values of  $s \leq 0$  they return f(s) = 0 and  $q(s) = \bar{A}_2$ . For positive values  $s \in (0, s^{\max}]$ , f(s) increases in a convex manner from 0 to  $t_1$  and q(s) decreases from  $\bar{A}_2$  to  $q^{\min}$ .

The magnitude  $s^{\text{max}}$  also represents what first-generation households could obtain if they seize all  $t_1$  assets from bankers in period 1 and re-sell them to second-generation households.

*Remark:* In the described setup, the demand of second-generation households for productive assets is downward-sloping because their production technology exhibits decreasing returns to scale. We could obtain similar results if they had concave utility  $u(\cdot)$  and a linear production technology  $\bar{A}_2 f$ . In that case asset demand would be defined by the optimality condition  $q = \bar{A}_2 \cdot \frac{u'(e+\bar{A}_2 f)}{u'(e-qf)}$  and would be downward-sloping because households dislike an unsmooth consumption profile.

# 3 Decentralized Equilibrium

An equilibrium in the economy consists of a set of allocations  $(c_{0,h}, c_{1,h}^{\omega}, c_{1,b}^{\omega}, c_{2,b}^{\omega}, c_{1,l}^{\omega}, c_{2,l}^{\omega}, b_{1,h}^{\omega}, f_{1,l}^{\omega}, f_{1,l}^{\omega})$ and prices  $(m_1^{\omega}, q_1^{\omega})$  which satisfy the maximization problems (4), (5), (7) of all three agents as well as the market-clearing conditions for Arrow securities  $b_1^{\omega} = b_{1,h}^{\omega}$  and the asset market  $f_1^{\omega} = f_{1,l}^{\omega} \forall \omega$ .

### 3.1 Backward Induction: Period 1 Equilibrium

We solve the problem of bankers by backward induction: we first analyze their optimal period 1 and 2 allocations, given that the state of the world  $\omega$  is realized at the beginning of period 1; then we proceed to solve for the optimal financing decision in period 0.

After the productivity shock  $\omega$  has been realized, denote by  $V(a^{\omega})$  the utility that a banker obtains from his net liquid asset holdings  $a^{\omega} = A_1^{\omega} t_1 - b_1^{\omega}$  in the beginning of period

1. We denote the Lagrangian of the associated optimization problem as follows. (Since there are no further shocks after period 1, we drop the superscript  $\omega$  for ease of notation.)

$$V(a) = \max_{\{c_{1,b},f_1\}} c_{1,b} + \bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1) - \mu \left[c_{1,b} - a - q_1 f_1\right] + \lambda c_{1,b}$$
(10)

The first order conditions are

FOC
$$(c_{1,b})$$
:  $\mu = 1 + \lambda$   
FOC $(f_1)$ :  $\bar{A}_2 = \mu q_1$ 

Depending on the amount of initial liquid assets a at the beginning of period 1, we distinguish two equilibria:

Unconstrained equilibrium for  $a \ge 0$ : For non-negative liquid asset holdings at the beginning of period 1, the optimum allocation of bankers is unconstrained: they consume their liquid wealth in period 1  $c_{1,b} = a$  and do not engage in fire sales  $f_1 = 0$ . In period 2, they consume their production  $c_{2,b} = \bar{A}_2 t_1$ . The shadow prices satisfy  $\mu = 1$  and  $\lambda = 0$ . The allocation  $f_1 = 0$  together with a price  $q_1 = \bar{A}_2$  also constitutes an optimum for second generation households.

**Constrained equilibrium for**  $-s^{\max} \leq a < 0$ : For negative liquid asset holdings, i.e. when the output of bankers in period 1 is insufficient to cover their payment obligation  $b_1$ , bankers would like to roll over debt into period 2 but are prevented from doing so by the binding borrowing constraint. We denote the liquidity shortfall s = -a. Bankers choose period 1 consumption  $c_{1,b} = 0$  and engage in asset sales of f(s) at price q(s) so as to cover the liquidity shortfall s = q(s)f(s).

In period 2, they consume the output from their remaining asset holdings  $c_{2,b} = \bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1)$ . Second-generation households are willing to buy a level f(s) > 0 of assets if the price declines sufficiently below  $\bar{A}_2$  so as meet their optimality condition  $q_1 = F'(f(s))$ . Since bankers sell assets at prices that are below their marginal product, we call these sales "fire sales." The shadow price of liquidity of bankers is  $\mu = \bar{A}_2/q > 1$ , reflecting that an additional unit of liquidity could buy up 1/q assets and earn a return  $\bar{A}_2$ .

#### **Comparative Statics and Amplification Effects**

Figure 2 depicts a comparative static analysis of the economy's equilibrium in period 1 for a fixed repayment obligation  $\bar{b}_1$ . The lower productivity  $A_1^{\omega}$ , the lower the liquidity of bankers (left panel). If bankers produce less than the debt level  $A_1^{\omega}t_1 < \bar{b}_1$ , they experience binding constraints. As a result, they have to engage in fire sales of some of their productive asset holdings (center panel), which reduces the equilibrium price  $q_1$  (right panel).



**Figure 2:** Fire sales and price declines as a function of  $A_1^{\omega}$  for  $b_1^{\omega} = \bar{b}_1$ 

The effects of shocks under this constrained regime are magnified by financial amplification: suppose that bankers are constrained, selling  $f_1$  to meet their period 1 repayment obligation, and suddenly experience a small shock ds > 0 to their liquidity position. The partial equilibrium effect is that they are forced to fire-sell an additional  $\frac{ds}{q_1}$  of their productive assets. This sale depresses the price  $q_1$  by  $\frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot \frac{\partial q_1}{\partial f_1} < 0$ . By implication bankers receive  $\frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot \frac{\partial q_1}{\partial f_1} \cdot f_1 < 0$ less on their prior fire sales  $f_1$  and need to increase sales by  $\frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial q_1}{\partial f_1} \cdot \frac{f_1}{q_1}\right) = \frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot \eta_{qf}$ , leading to further price declines  $\frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot \eta_{qf} \cdot \frac{\partial q_1}{\partial f_1}$ , a further reduction in revenues from asset sales, further fire sales  $\frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot \eta_{qf} \cdot \left(\frac{\partial q_1}{\partial f_1} \cdot \frac{f_1}{q_1}\right) = \frac{ds}{q_1} \cdot (\eta_{qf})^2$  and so on. In general equilibrium, the total effect of the shock is to lead to asset sales of

$$\frac{df_1}{ds} = \frac{1}{q_1} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - \eta_{af}} \tag{11}$$

Note that this expression can also be obtained by implicitly differentiating equation (9). The second factor in the expression is (by assumption A.3) always greater than 1 and captures the effects of financial amplification.

## **3.2** Period 0 Financing Decisions

First-generation households consume  $c_{0,h} = e - \alpha t_1$  in period 0 and  $c_{1,h}^{\omega} = e + b_1^{\omega}$  in state  $\omega$  of period 1. Following optimality condition (6), their pricing kernel  $m_1^{\omega}$  is a function of the payment  $b_1^{\omega}$  they receive in state  $\omega$  of period 1,

$$m_1^{\omega} = m_1(b_1^{\omega}) = \frac{u'(e+b_1^{\omega})}{u'(e-\alpha t_1)}$$
(12)

The period 0 optimization problem of bankers can be reformulated by employing the definition of V in equation (10),

$$\max_{\{b_1^{\omega}\}} E\left\{ V\left(A_1^{\omega} t_1 - b_1^{\omega}\right) \right\} \quad \text{s.t.} \quad \alpha t_1 = E[m_1^{\omega} b_1^{\omega}]$$
(13)

Assigning a shadow price of  $\nu$  to the period 0 budget constraint, the first-order condition of the Lagrangian to this problem for security issuance in a given state  $\omega$  is

$$V'(a^{\omega}) = \nu m_1^{\omega} \tag{14}$$

Observe that  $V'(a^{\omega}) = \mu^{\omega} = \frac{\bar{A}_2}{q(-a)}$  reflects the shadow price of liquidity of bankers in state  $\omega$  of period 1, and  $\nu$  reflects the shadow cost of raising funds in period 0.

Substituting for  $m_1^{\omega}$  according to (12), we define an optimal repayment function  $b_1(\nu; A_1)$ for every  $A_1 \in [A^{\min}, A^{\max}]$  as the solution to the implicit equation

$$\frac{\bar{A}_2}{q(b_1 - A_1 t_1)} = \nu \cdot \frac{u'(e+b_1)}{u'(e-\alpha t_1)}$$
(15)

If the shadow cost  $\nu$  of raising funds in period 0 is below a threshold  $\hat{\nu}(A_1) = \frac{u'(e-\alpha t_1)}{u'(e+A_1t_1)}$ , then there are no fire-sales, so  $q(\cdot) = \bar{A}_2$  and the left-hand side of the equation equals 1. The optimal repayment function for  $\nu \in (0, \hat{\nu}(A_1)]$  can be explicitly characterized,

$$b_1(\nu; A_1) = b_1^{unc}(\nu) = u'^{-1} \left[ \frac{u'(e - \alpha t_1)}{\nu} \right] - e$$
(16)

Note that over the interval  $(0, \hat{\nu}(A_1)]$ , the right-hand side of this function is independent of  $A_1$  and is strictly increasing in  $\nu$ . It satisfies  $\lim_{\nu \to 0} b_1^{unc}(\nu) = -e$  and  $b_1^{unc}(\hat{\nu}(A_1)) = A_1 t_1$ .

For  $\nu$  exceeding the threshold  $\hat{\nu}(A_1)$ , bankers find it optimal to promise a period 1 repayment  $b_1 > A_1t_1$  that exceeds their asset income, which implies that they must raise some liquidity through fire-sales to repay first-generation households. The left-hand side of equation (15) is then strictly increasing in  $b_1$ ; for  $b_1 = A_1t_1$  it equals 1, and for  $b_1 = A_1t_1 + s^{\max}$ it is  $\bar{A}_2/q^{\min}$ .

For a given  $\nu$ , the right-hand side is strictly decreasing in  $b_1$  from  $\infty$  for  $b_1 \rightarrow -e$  to 0 for  $b_1 \rightarrow \infty$  because of the Inada conditions on the utility function of first-generation households. As long as  $\nu \in (\hat{\nu}(A_1), \bar{\nu}(A_1)]$ , the equation has a unique solution that satisfies  $b_1(\nu; A_1) \in (A_1t_1, A_1t_1 + s^{\max}]$  and that is strictly increasing in both  $\nu$  and  $A_1$ . The threshold value  $\nu^{\max}(A_1) = \bar{A}_2/q^{\min} \cdot \frac{u'(e-\alpha t_1)}{u'(e+A_1t_1+s^{\max})}$  is the maximum shadow price of period 0 liquidity for which a solution to equation (15) is defined for a given  $A_1$  – a higher value of  $\nu$  would induce bankers to attempt to raise more liquidity than  $s^{\max}$  through fire sales, i.e. more than they can raise given the quantity  $t_1$  of assets that they are holding.

For simplicity we limit our analysis to values of

$$\nu \le \nu^{\max} = \min\left\{\bar{\nu}(A^{\min}), \hat{\nu}(A^{\max})\right\}$$
(17)

The condition  $\nu \leq \bar{\nu}(A^{\min})$  guarantees that bankers will not attempt to fire sell more assets than they own in the lowest state of nature, and by implication in all other states of nature. The condition  $\nu \leq \hat{\nu}(A^{\max})$  implies that bankers will be unconstrained at least in the highest state of nature, and by implication that there are some states of nature in which they will not engage in fire-sales.<sup>6</sup>

In summary, the equilibrium condition (15) defines a continuous function  $b_1 : (0, \nu^{\max}] \times [A^{\min}, A^{\max}] \to (-e, A^{\min}t_1 + s^{\max}]$  that satisfies  $\partial b_1 / \partial \nu > 0$  and  $\partial b_1 / \partial A_1 \ge 0$ . (Bankers promise to repay more in a given state  $\omega$  the tighter the period 0 budget constraint as captured by  $\nu$  and the higher the productivity shock  $A_1^{\omega}$ .)

Define the amount of funds raised in period 0 for a given  $\nu \in (0, \nu^{\max}]$  as

$$R_0(\nu) = E\left[m_1(b_1(\nu; A_1^{\omega})) \cdot b_1(\nu; A_1^{\omega})\right]$$

The function  $R_0 : (0, \nu^{\max}] \to (-e, R_0^{\max}]$  is continuous and, by assumption A.3, strictly increasing. For  $\nu = \nu^{\max}$  as defined in equation (17) it reaches its maximum, which we denote as

$$R_0^{\max} = R_0(\nu^{\max}) > 0 \tag{18}$$

By assumption A.1 the initial investment requirement of bankers is low enough to fall within the defined range of the function  $\alpha t_1 \in (0, R_0^{\max}]$ . The period 0 budget constraint of bankers can be written as

$$R_0(\nu) = \alpha t_1 \tag{19}$$

The strict monotonicity of  $R_0(\cdot)$  implies that there is a unique solution  $\nu^* \in (0, \nu^{\max}]$  that satisfies this equation. Given the equilibrium  $\nu^*$ , the optimal borrowing choices of bankers are  $b_1(\nu^*; A_1^{\omega})$ . All other variables follow.

**Proposition 1 (Decentralized Equilibrium Under Loose Constraints)** If  $\alpha t_1 \in [0, \hat{R}_0]$ bankers contract a constant repayment across all states of nature  $b_1^{\omega} = b_1^{unc}(\nu^*) \forall \omega$ , where the threshold  $\hat{R}_0$  is defined as

$$\hat{R}_0 = m_1(A^{\min}t_1)A^{\min}t_1 = \frac{u'\left(e + A^{\min}t_1\right)}{u'\left(e - \alpha t_1\right)} \cdot A^{\min}t_1$$
(20)

If bankers are unconstrained across all states of nature, they carry all risk and provide households with a fixed repayment, corresponding to a risk-free bond. This case corresponds to the lower line  $b_1^{unc}(\nu_{II}^*)$  in figure 3.

The ceiling  $\hat{R}_0$  in the proposition captures the amount of period 0 finance that is raised by the largest possible fixed payment of bankers  $A^{\min}t_1$  that avoids binding constraints and fire sales in the lowest state of nature  $A^{\min}$ . Note that  $\hat{R}_0$  is higher the greater the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>As we discuss in appendix A.1, it would be straightforward to generalize our focus somewhat, but our main results would be unaffected.



Figure 3: Contingent repayment  $b_1^{\omega}$  for high/low initial investment requirement

minimum period 1 return  $A_1^{\min}$  and the higher the elasticity of substitution of first generation households, since a higher elasticity of substitution implies that households require less compensation to accept an unsmooth consumption profile.

Proposition 2 (Decentralized Equilibrium Under Partially Binding Constraints) Otherwise, if  $\alpha t_1 \in (\hat{R}_0, R_0^{\max}]$ , then the equilibrium is characterized by a threshold  $\hat{A}_1 > A^{\min}$  such that:

- For  $A_1^{\omega} \geq \hat{A}_1$ , bankers contract a fixed repayment  $b_1^{\omega} = b_1^{unc}(\nu^*) = \hat{A}_1 t_1 \quad \forall \omega$ . Their consumption is  $c_{1,b}^{\omega} = (A_1^{\omega} \hat{A}_1)t_1$ , i.e. they absorb all output risk beyond the threshold  $\hat{A}_1$ . They engage in no fire sales  $f_1^{\omega} = 0$ .
- For  $A_1^{\omega} < \hat{A}_1$ , bankers reduce their period 1 repayment compared to unconstrained states  $b_1^{\omega} = b_1^{\omega,con}(\nu^*) < \hat{A}_1 t_1$  and engage in positive fire sales  $f_1^{\omega} > 0$ . Their period 1 consumption is zero  $c_{1,h} = 0$ .

The resulting payment profile is similar to a defaultable bond – bankers pay a fixed repayment in high states of nature – if their output is sufficient to cover the fixed repayment – and the entire output plus receipts from fire sales in low states of nature when they are in financial distress. This case is illustrated by the upper line  $b_1^{\omega}(\nu_I^*)$  in figure 3.

Ex ante, reducing the repayment  $b_1^{\omega}$  or engaging in fire sales  $f_1^{\omega}$  in low states of nature are two alternative costly ways of obtaining liquidity: when bankers engage in fire-sales, asset prices decline so that their proceeds are less than the marginal product that they could have earned on the assets. Similarly, the cheapest way for bankers to raise a given amount of finance from first-generation households is to promise a constant payment across all states of nature since households are risk-averse. If bankers reduce their promised repayments  $b_1^{\omega}$  in low states so as to insure themselves and increase  $b_1^{\omega}$  in high states of nature to make up for it, the total interest bill rises. Bankers pick their portfolios such that the relative costs of the two forms of raising liquidity are equal from their private perspective.

# 4 Welfare Analysis

In this section, we analyze welfare in the decentralized equilibrium and characterize Paretoimproving allocations that could be chosen by a planner in the described economy.

# 4.1 Effects of Marginal Reduction in Fire Sales

Let us first analyze the scope for Pareto improvements in the economy by considering the welfare effects of a marginal reallocation of security issuance that aims at reducing fire sales. Suppose the economy is in a decentralized equilibrium with partially binding constraints (as described in proposition 2). Assume there are two states of nature  $\omega, \psi \in \Omega$  of equal probability density where the period 1 equilibrium in state  $\omega$  exhibits binding constraints and in state  $\psi$  loose constraints. Consider a planner in period 0 who reduces security issuance of bankers in the constrained state  $\omega$  by an infinitesimal amount  $db_1^{\omega}$  in period 0 while holding the prices of Arrow securities constant. In order to satisfy the period 0 budget constraint of bankers, the planner increases security issuance conditional on the unconstrained state  $\psi$  by  $db_1^{\psi} = -db_1^{\omega} \frac{m_1^{\omega}}{m_1^{\psi}} > 0$ . By the envelope theorem, the change in utility of first-generation households is second-order because they were previously at their optimum.

*Remark:* If we allowed period 0 prices  $m_1^{\omega}$  and  $m_1^{\psi}$  of Arrow securities to adjust, then there would in general be a redistribution of welfare from bankers to households. The planner could undo this by providing a lump-sum transfer from households to bankers.

In period 1, bankers have  $db_1^{\omega}$  more liquid resources in state  $\omega$ . An atomistic agent who takes asset prices as given would anticipate that this allows him to reduce fire sales by

$$\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial b_1^\omega} = \frac{1}{q_1}$$

However, in general equilibrium, the reduction in fire sales pushes up asset prices and leads to an amplified decline in fire sales by

$$\frac{df_1}{db_1^\omega} = \frac{1}{q_1} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - \eta_{qf}}$$

as we had captured in equation (11). Employing these assets in production allows bankers to consume  $\frac{\bar{A}_2}{q_1^{\omega}} \cdot \frac{db_1^{\omega}}{1-\eta_{qf}} = \frac{\mu^{\omega}db_1^{\omega}}{1-\eta_{qf}}$  more in period 2 of state  $\omega$ .

Similarly, in state  $\psi$  the increase in the promised repayment requires bankers to reduce period 1 consumption by  $db_1^{\psi} = -\frac{m_1^{\omega}}{m_1^{\psi}}db_1^{\omega} = -\mu^{\omega}db_1^{\omega}$ , since bankers in the decentralized equilibrium choose repayments such that  $\frac{m_1^{\omega}}{m_1^{\psi}} = \frac{\mu^{\omega}}{\mu^{\psi}}$  and since  $\mu^{\psi} = 1$  in unconstrained states. The net change in the banker's state utility from the planner's reallocation over states  $\omega$  and  $\psi$  is

$$\frac{d\left(V^{\omega}+V^{\psi}\right)}{db_{1}^{\omega}}=\frac{\mu^{\omega}}{1-\eta_{qf}}-\mu^{\omega}=\frac{\eta_{qf}}{1-\eta_{qf}}\cdot\mu^{\omega}$$

Second generation households are unaffected in state  $\psi$ , but pay  $dq_1^{\omega} = \frac{\partial q}{\partial f} df_1^{\omega} = \frac{1}{f_1^{\omega}} \cdot \frac{\eta_{qf}}{1-\eta_{qf}} db_1^{\omega}$  more per unit of asset purchased, implying a change in their utility in state  $\omega$  of

$$\frac{dW^{\omega}}{db_1^{\omega}} = -f_1^{\omega} \cdot \frac{dq_1^{\omega}}{db_1^{\omega}} = -\frac{\eta_{qf}}{1 - \eta_{qf}}$$

(Since second generation households purchase assets up to the point where  $F'(f_1^{\omega}) = q_1^{\omega}$ , the welfare effects of the reduction in the quantity of assets used in production are second order.)

Since  $\mu^{\omega} > 1$ , the planner could transfer  $\frac{\eta_{qf}}{1-\eta_{qf}}db_1^{\omega}$  from bankers to second generation households in the unconstrained state  $\psi$  to compensate them for the reallocation in state  $\omega$ . This leaves households indifferent and achieves a first order welfare gain for bankers. The described reallocation therefore constitutes a Pareto improvement.

# 4.2 Planning Problem

Before analyzing the problem more fully, let us note that a planner who has the ability to arbitrarily redistribute funds between agents in the economy could implement the firstbest solution to our probem, in which bankers are always allocated all productive assets in the economy since they have a superior production technology. In such a setup financial constraints would be irrelevant and the solution is trivial.

In the remainder of this section, we therefore assume that the planner cannot make transfers to bankers in states of nature when they experience binding constraints. However, we assume that the planner instead has a regulatory tool to determine the financing and risk-taking decisions  $b_1^{\omega}$  of bankers in period 0. In addition, she has the means to engage in lump-sum transfers to ensure that efficiency gains are spread around the economy such that all agents in the economy are (weakly) better off. We formulate the planner's problem as

$$\max_{\{T_0, b_1^{\omega}, c_{1,b}^{\omega}, f_1^{\omega}, T_1^{\omega}\}} E\left[c_{1,b}^{\omega} + \bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1^{\omega})\right] \quad \text{s.t.} \quad \alpha t_1 = E[m_1^{\omega} b_1^{\omega}] - T_0$$

$$c_{1,b}^{\omega} = A_1^{\omega} t_1^{\omega} - b_1^{\omega} + q_1^{\omega} f_1^{\omega} - T_1^{\omega} \ge 0$$

$$T_1^{\omega} \ge 0, \ m_1^{\omega} = \frac{u'(e + b_1^{\omega})}{u'(e - \alpha t_1)}, \ q_1^{\omega} = F'(f_1^{\omega}) \ \forall \ \omega$$

$$U \ge U^{DE}, W \ge W^{DE}$$
(21)

where  $T_0$  and  $T_1^{\omega}$  represent compensatory transfers from bankers to first-generation and second generation households in periods 0 and 1 respectively. Note that we impose a constraint  $T_1^{\omega} \ge 0$ , which ensures that the planner uses transfers in period 1 solely for compensatory reasons – to transfer resources away from bankers to second generation households – and not to relax the financial constraints of bankers by transferring resource to them.  $U^{DE}$  and  $W^{DE}$ are the utility levels of first and second generation households in the decentralized equilibrium of the economy. (In this section, we denote variables that refer to the decentralized equilibrium with superscript 'DE' and – in case of ambiguity – variables that refer to the social planner's allocation by 'SP'.)

#### Backward Induction: Optimal Period 1 Solution

We first focus on a planner who takes as given the net liquid assets a of bankers in a given state of nature of period 1, after first-generation households have been repaid. The planner maximizes total surplus of bankers and second-generation households over periods 1 and 2 while ensuring that the utility of the latter satisfies  $W \ge W^{DE}$ . Since both bankers and second generation households have linear utility, the planner can transfer resources between the two at a rate of one for one whenever financial constraints are loose. We simplify the problem in the following way:

**Lemma 1** A planner in period 1 can focus on maximizing total surplus S(a) while compensating second generation households by providing lump-sum transfers  $T_1^{\omega}$  in unconstrained states that satisfy

$$E[T_1^{\omega}] = E\left[F(f_1^{\omega,DE}) - q_1^{\omega,DE} f_1^{\omega,DE} - F(f_1^{\omega,SP}) + q_1^{\omega,SP} f_1^{\omega,SP}\right] \quad where \quad T_1^{\omega} \ge \max\{0, a^{\omega}\}$$
(22)

This is feasible as long as the required transfer is less than the total liquid assets of bankers across all unconstrained states  $E[\max\{0, a^{\omega}\}]$ .

Equation (22) captures that the transfer needs to make up for the loss in utility that second generation households suffer because of reductions in their profits  $F(f_1)-q_1f_1$  from processing

fire-sales. Given the linear utility functions of both agents, the precise allocation of transfers across states of nature is indeterminate – the planner can engage in compensatory transfers in any unconstrained states as long as the magnitude of the required transfer does not exceed the expected positive liquid asset holdings of bankers  $E[\max\{0, a^{\omega}\}]$ . In the following, we will assume that this condition is met.<sup>7</sup>

*Remark:* An alternative specification would be to require that the planner's transfer is uncontingent  $T_1^{\omega} = \overline{T}_1$ . This would still allow the planner to implement Pareto improvements, but it would imply that bankers are required to make some transfers in constrained states of nature even if they have resources available in unconstrained states, which is inefficient.

Using the lemma, we express the planner's welfare in a given state of period 1 as the sum of the utility of bankers and second generation households. The solution to this problem closely reflects that of the decentralized period 1 problem of bankers (10) – the planner finds it optimal to engage in the minimum amount of fire-sales possible. For  $a \ge 0$  there are no fire sales ( $f_1 = 0$ ) and total social surplus amounts to  $a + \bar{A}_2 t_1 + 2e$ , where the last two terms are constants. For a < 0, a quantity  $f_1 = f(-a)$  of assets are fire-sold at price q(-a) and produce output of  $F(f_1)$  instead of  $\bar{A}_2 f_1$ . We summarize the planner's social surplus as a function of the liquid assets a held by bankers as

$$S(a) = a + F(f(-a)) - \bar{A}_2 f(-a) + \text{const}$$
(23)

The marginal social valuation of liquidity as perceived by the planner is

$$\mu^{SP} = S'(a) = 1 + \left[\bar{A}_2 - F'(f_1)\right] \cdot f'(-a) = \frac{\bar{A}_2/q_1 - \eta_{qf}}{1 - \eta_{qf}}$$
(24)

where we substituted  $f' = \frac{1}{q_1} \cdot \frac{1}{1-\eta_{qf}}$  from (11). In comparing the marginal valuation of liquidity of decentralized bankers and of the planner, we find

**Proposition 3 (Valuation of Liquidity)** For  $a \ge 0$ , financing constraints are loose and the valuation of liquidity of decentralized bankers and the planner coincide  $\mu^{SP} = \mu^{DE} = 1$ .

For a < 0, financing constraints on bankers are binding, and the planner values liquidity more highly than decentralized agents  $\mu^{SP} > \mu^{DE} > 1$ . The private undervaluation of liquidity is more severe the closer  $\nu qf$  to 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>If the expected value of the required transfer is greater than  $E[\max\{0, a^{\omega}\}]$ , then the planner would instruct bankers to raise a minimum of  $\bar{s}$  through fire sales in each state of nature and transfer their liquidity to second generation households, i.e.  $T_1^{\omega} = \max\{0, a^{\omega} + \bar{s}\}$ , where  $\bar{s}$  is chosen such that resulting revenue raised satisfies equation (22).



Figure 4: Private and Social Valuation of Liquidity

**Proof.** The inequality follows from  $\mu^{DE} = \frac{\bar{A}_2}{q_1} \ge 1$  in the numerator of (24) and from  $\eta_{qf} < 1$ , which holds by assumption A.3.

*Remark:* A planner internalizes that a decline in asset prices leads to financial amplification since it reduces the amount of liquidity that bankers can raise from their sales of each unit of the assets. This pecuniary externality reduces the efficiency of the distribution of capital. By contrast, decentralized bankers take asset prices as given since they realize that the behavior of an atomistic agent has only an infinitesimal effect on asset prices. This is the basis of the inefficiency result in our paper.

Figure 4 schematically depicts the valuation of liquidity of decentralized agents and the planner across different states of nature assuming a fixed debt level  $\bar{b}_1$ . In normal times when constraints are loose, the two coincide and equal 1. When financing constraints are binding,  $\mu^{\omega,SP} > \mu^{\omega,DE}$  since the planner internalizes that higher liquidity would mitigate the downward spiral in asset prices and production.

### **Optimal Period 0 Financing Decisions**

Let us now turn to the implications of this difference in the valuation of liquidity between planner and decentralized agents for the period 0 allocation of Arrow securities. Having characterized the function S(a), the planner's problem (21) can be reformulated as

$$\max_{\{T_0, b_1^{\omega}\}} E\{S(A_1^{\omega} t_1 - b_1^{\omega})\} \quad \text{s.t.} \quad U \ge U^{DE}$$

$$E[m_1^{\omega} b_1^{\omega}] = \alpha t_1 + T_0$$

$$m_1^{\omega} = \frac{u'(e + b_1^{\omega})}{u'(e - \alpha t_1)}$$
(25)

The planner can split the problem into two steps: first she optimizes

$$\max_{\{b_1^{\omega}\}} E\left\{S(A_1^{\omega}t_1 - b_1^{\omega})\right\} \quad \text{s.t.} \quad U = u(e - \alpha t_1) + E\left[u(e + b_1^{\omega})\right] \ge U^{DE}$$
(26)

Taking the resulting allocation of Arrow securities  $\{b_1^{\omega}\}$ , she sets

$$T_{0} = E[m_{1}^{\omega}b_{1}^{\omega}] - \alpha t_{1} = E\left[\frac{u'(e+b_{1}^{\omega})}{u'(e-\alpha t_{1})} \cdot b_{1}^{\omega}\right] - \alpha t_{1}$$
(27)

so as to satisfy the remaining two constraints in problem (25).

Normalizing the constraint  $U \ge U^{DE}$  by dividing through the constant  $u'(e - \alpha t_1)$  and assigning the multiplier  $\nu^{SP}$ , the first order condition of (26) is

$$S'(a^{\omega}) = \nu^{SP} m_1^{\omega}$$

Substituting for  $S'(a^{\omega}) = \mu^{\omega,SP}$  and  $m_1^{\omega}$  we obtain

$$\left(\frac{\bar{A}_2}{q(b_1 - A_1 t_1)} - \eta_{qf}\right) / (1 - \eta_{qf}) = \nu \cdot \frac{u'(e + b_1)}{u'(e - \alpha t_1)}$$
(28)

This optimality condition has the same format as the decentralized optimality condition (14) and can be solved in a similar manner. In particular, the equilibrium condition (28) defines a function  $b_1^{SP}: (0, \nu^{\max,SP}] \times [A^{\min}, A^{\max}] \rightarrow (-e, A^{\min}t_1 + s^{\max}]$  that satisfies  $\partial b_1^{SP} / \partial \nu^{SP} > 0$  and  $\partial b_1^{SP} / \partial A_1 \ge 0$ . The maximum value of  $\nu^{SP}$  for which the function is defined is  $\nu^{SP,\max} = [\bar{A}_2/q^{\min} - \eta_{qf}]/(1 - \eta_{qf}) \cdot \frac{u'(e - \alpha t_1)}{u'(e + A_1^{\min}t_1 + s^{\max})} > \nu^{DE,\max}$ , since the planner perceives a higher shadow cost of fire-selling all of the banker's assets than decentralized bankers.

Observe that expression (28) reduces to the optimality condition of decentralized bankers (14) when there are no fire sales and  $\frac{\bar{A}_2}{q(b_1-A_1t_1)} = 1$ . In comparing the planner's repayment function  $b_1^{SP}(\cdot)$  and the decentralized repayment function  $b_1^{DE}(\cdot)$  we find

**Lemma 2** For a given pair  $(\nu, A_1) \in (0, \nu^{\max, DE}] \times [A^{\min}, A^{\max}],$ 

$$b_1^{SP}(\nu; A_1) = b_1^{DE}(\nu; A_1) = b_1^{unc}(\nu) \\ b_1^{SP}(\nu; A_1) < b_1^{DE}(\nu; A_1) \\ and \quad \frac{db_1^{SP}(A_1, \nu)}{dA_1} > \frac{db_1^{DE}(A_1, \nu)}{dA_1} > 0 \\ \end{bmatrix}$$
for  $\nu > \hat{\nu}(A_1)$ 

A detailed proof is given in appendix A.4. Intuitively, if  $\nu$  is low enough that the corresponding repayment can be made without incurring binding constraints, the planner and decentralized agents value liquidity equally and repay identical amounts. If the repayment requires fire-sales, the planner values liquidity more highly and repays less for a given shadow cost of raising period 0 funds. Furthermore, as  $A_1^{\omega}$  decreases, the planner decreases repayments more rapidly than decentralized agents.

**Proposition 4 (Planner's Solution Under Loose Constraints)** If  $\alpha t_1 \in [0, \hat{R}_0]$ , *i.e.* if the decentralized equilibrium exhibits loose constraints in all states of nature, then the decentralized equilibrium coincides with the planner's optimal allocation.

**Proof.** Consider an economy that satisfies condition (20) so that the decentralized equilibrium exhibits loose constraints across all states of nature. In period 1,  $a^{\omega,DE} \geq 0 \forall \omega$ , therefore both decentralized agents and the banker find it optimal to not engage in fire sales, but to allocate the banker's net liquid assets to consumption  $c_{1,b}^{\omega} = a^{\omega}$ . Furthermore, the utility of second generation households is at the level that they receive in the decentralized equilibrium, so the planner does not need to compensate them and  $T_1^{\omega} = 0$ .

Note that the marginal valuations of period 1 liquidity of decentralized bankers and of the planner coincide for this allocation, i.e.  $\mu^{\omega,DE} = \mu^{\omega,SP} = 1$  for net liquid assets  $a^{\omega,DE}$ . Therefore the optimality conditions on  $b_1^{\omega}$  in the decentralized equilibrium (14) and in the planner's optimum (28) coincide and the decentralized allocation satisfies the planner's optimality conditions for  $\nu^{*SP} = \nu^{*DE}$ . Note that in the given allocation, household utility is at the level of the decentralized equilibrium and the planner finds it optimal to set the period 0 transfer to  $T_0 = 0$ .

**Proposition 5 (Planner's Solution Under Partially Binding Constraints)** If  $\alpha t_1 \in (\hat{R}_0, R_0^{\max}]$ , *i.e. if the decentralized equilibrium exhibits binding constraints in some states of nature, then the planner achieves a Pareto improvement over the decentralized equilibrium.* The planner's allocation is described by a shadow price  $\nu^{*SP} > \nu^{*DE}$  and a productivity threshold for binding constraints  $\hat{A}_1^{SP} > \hat{A}_1^{DE}$  such that:

- For  $A_1^{\omega} \ge \hat{A}_1^{SP}$ , the planner contracts a higher fixed repayment  $b_1^{\omega} = b_1^{unc}(\nu^{*SP}) = \hat{A}_1^{SP}t_1$ than decentralized bankers and there are no fire sales.
- For  $A_1^{\omega} < \hat{A}_1^{SP}$ , the planner chooses repayments below  $\hat{A}_1^{SP} t_1$  and makes smaller payments than decentralized bankers  $b_1^{\omega,SP} < b_1^{\omega,DE}$  in the lowest states of nature.



**Figure 5:** Comparison of repayment  $b_1^{\omega}$  for decentralized bankers and planner

**Proof.** Let us rewrite the constraint  $U^{SP} \ge U^{DE}$  guaranteeing that first generation households are not worse off in the planner's allocation:

$$E[u(e+b_1^{SP}(\nu;A_1))] \ge E[u(e+b_1^{DE}(\nu^{*DE};A_1))]$$
(29)

By lemma 2 the inequality would be violated for  $\nu = \nu^{*DE}$ . Since the left-hand side of the inequality is strictly increasing in  $\nu$ , the constraint is satisfied with equality for the optimal  $\nu^{*SP} > \nu^{*DE}$ . It follows immediately that in unconstrained states,  $b_1^{\omega,SP} = b_1^{unc}(\nu^{*SP}; A_1^{\omega}) > b_1^{unc}(\nu^{*DE}; A_1^{\omega})$  and that the threshold for binding constraints  $\hat{A}_1^{SP} = b_1^{unc}(\nu^{*SP})/t_1$  rises.

Since equation (29) must hold with equality, higher repayments in all unconstrained states imply that there must be lower repayments in some constrained states  $b_1^{\omega,SP} < b_1^{\omega,DE}$ . The third equation of lemma 2 reveals that  $b_1^{SP}(\cdot)$  rises faster in  $A_1$  than  $b_1^{DE}(\cdot)$  for a given  $\nu$ . It follows that the planner repays less than decentralized agents in those states of nature with the lowest realizations of productivity  $A_1^{\omega}$ , i.e. in which there are the greatest fire sales. The payments  $\{b_1^{\omega,SP}\}$  chosen by the planner are more expensive in period 0 as captured by  $E[m_1(b_1^{\omega,SP})b_1^{\omega,SP}]$  than those chosen in the decentralized equilibrium – in fact this price signal is the reason why decentralized agents purchase less insurance against constrained states. The planner's allocation satisfies the optimization problem (25) if she chooses a positive transfer  $T_0 = E[m_1(b_1^{\omega,SP})b_1^{\omega,SP}] - \alpha t_1$  as determined by equation (27).

Figure 5 illustrates the differences between the repayments contracted by decentralized bankers and by the planner graphically. For a low initial investment requirement bankers make a fixed repayment  $b_1^{unc}$  and do not experience binding constraints – the two equilibria coincide. For a high initial investment requirement the planner repays more in unconstrained states and less in most constrained states of nature compared to bankers.

*Remark 1:* The planner reallocates period 1 repayments  $b_1^{\omega}$  from strongly constrained

states to unconstrained states of nature in order to reduce socially inefficient fire sales and output declines. The planner therefore purchases more 'insurance' against low output states that exhibit binding constraints. In practice, this could be interpreted as substituting debt finance by other, more contingent forms of finance.

Remark 2: In the described economy, the aggregate productivity shock  $A_1^{\omega}$  constitutes systematic risk. Whenever financial constraints are binding, amplification effects are triggered and the shock triggers systemic risk, which bankers would like to insure against. First generation households are risk-averse and require compensation for taking on this risk, and the decentralized equilibrium is therefore characterized by the privately optimal trade-off between the cost of consumption volatility for households and the efficiency cost of fire-sales for bankers. However, since decentralized bankers internalize only part of the social benefit of insuring against fire-sales, they leave themselves exposed to too much systemic risk. As a result, the economy is characterized by an excessive extent of financial amplification and excessive declines in asset prices and output in low states of nature.

We emphasized in propositions 2 and 5 that systemic risk and socially excessive fire sales arise whenever the initial investment requirement of bankers is so high that it is optimal to incur some fire sales in low states of nature ( $\alpha t_1 > \hat{R}_0$ ), as captured by condition (20). Let us discuss the circumstances that determine whether this condition is likely to be satisfied. Assume for simplicity that the utility function of first-generation households exhibits constant relative risk aversion  $\theta$ .

**Corollary 1 (Incidence of Systemic Risk)** The economy is more prone to systemic risk, *i.e. condition (20) is more likely to be violated,* 

- the higher the initial financing requirement  $\alpha t_1$  of bankers
- the lower the endowment of first-generation households
- the lower the minimum period 1 return of bankers  $A^{\min}t_1$
- the greater the relative risk aversion of households  $\theta$ .

# 5 Applications

Having analytically characterized the externality that is the subject of this paper, we turn our attention to a number of applications, including the effects of anticipated government bailouts, the implementation of the planner's solution via macroprudential regulation, and the suboptimal incentives for bankers to raise new capital in states of systemic amplification.

### 5.1 Bailout Neutrality

When binding constraints and financial amplification in an economy are triggered, government authorities find it ex post optimal to intervene by providing lump-sum transfers ('bailouts') to constrained bankers. This allows them to mitigate the amplification effects and the associated decline in asset prices and output. This section shows that if such bailout transfers are anticipated, decentralized bankers will find it optimal to fully undo them.

Assume that a government commits to a state-contingent period 1 lump-sum transfer  $Z^{\omega}$  that provides a bailout  $Z^{\omega} > 0$  to bankers in states of nature in which they experience binding constraints. If bankers are unconstrained, government levys a fee  $Z^{\omega} < 0$  on them so as to make the policy revenue-neutral in expectation. Assume that the government buys the respective state contingent securities from first generation households at time 0 and distributes the transfers to bankers in period 1 after the productivity shock is realized. The assumption of revenue neutrality implies that the total expenditure on such securities in period 0 is

$$E\left[m_1^{\omega}Z^{\omega}\right] = 0$$

If we add these transfers to the optimization problems of bankers and first-generation households, their first order conditions are unaffected: decentralized bankers chose their equilibrium allocations on the basis of an optimal tradeoff of risk versus return. If they receive one more dollar in period 1 of a given state  $\omega$ , they will sell one more bond contingent on that state so as to restore their privately optimal equilibrium.

**Proposition 6 (Bailout Neutrality)** An anticipated state-contingent lump sum transfer  $Z^{\omega}$  to bankers that satisfies  $E[m_1^{\omega}Z^{\omega}]$  will be fully undone by optimizing bankers.

Specifically, the private sales of state-contingent securities of bankers under such a transfer will satisfy

$$b_1^{\omega,Z} = b_1^{\omega,DE} + Z^{\omega}$$

This implies that – after the transfer has occured – all other allocations and prices in the economy are identical to those of the decentralized equilibrium. Our finding represents a state-contingent form of Ricardian equivalence (Barro, 1974). Bankers see through the fiscal veil and add up their private budget constraint and the government's transfers  $Z^{\omega}$  when determining their optimal decisions.

*Remark 1:* The proposition also suggests circumstances under which bailouts may be effective. This may be the case if (a) they are unanticipated or (b) if bankers are prevented from undoing the transfers, either because of regulatory constraints or because the state-contingent markets required for this do not exist.

Remark 2: Transfers in constrained states that were anticipated but that end up not taking place can have strongly negative effects, since any exogenous change  $\Delta a$  to the liquidity position of bankers under binding constraints is amplified. The expectation of a bailout leads bankers to take on larger risks than what is privately optimal in the absence of government intervention; their liquidity position after the shock is therefore below what is privately optimal, and by implication even further below what is socially optimal.

Our bailout neutrality result captures a stark version of what is sometimes described as the 'moral hazard' introduced by the anticipation of government bailouts. In the described setting, private bankers find it optimal to engage in socially excessive risk-taking if there are some states of nature in which financial constraints are binding. Even if bailouts are lumpsum and do not distort the marginal incentives of bankers as captured by their optimality conditions, they find it optimal to undo them in order to return to their privately optimal allocations. This suggests that in the given setting, lump sum transfers cannot improve upon the allocations of the decentralized equilibrium in an ex-ante sense.

## 5.2 Macroprudential Regulation

In this section, we examine how a planner can implement Pareto superior allocations by resorting to a tax on risk-taking that brings the private costs of risk-taking in line with the social cost. We call this measure "macroprudential regulation" because it closely captures what the Bank for International Settlements defines as the macroprudential approach to regulation (see e.g. Borio, 2003): it is designed to limit system-wide financial distress that stems from the correlated exposure of financial institutions and to avoid the resulting real output losses in the economy.

**Definition 1 (Externality Kernel)** We define the externality kernel  $\tau^{\omega}$  of bankers as the difference between the private valuation and the planner's social valuation of period 1 liquidity

$$\tau^{\omega} = \mu^{\omega, SP} - \mu^{\omega, DE} \tag{30}$$

This captures the un-internalized social cost of financially constrained bankers making a payment of one dollar in state  $\omega$ . Following proposition 3, the externality kernel is zero in unconstrained states and positive in constrained states. Since the productivity shock  $A_1^{\omega}$  is the only source of uncertainty in the model and since lower realizations of productivity are associated with tighter constraints, we find  $\text{Cov}(\tau^{\omega}, A_1^{\omega}) < 0$  whenever there are states with binding constraints.

We observed from equation (28) that the decentralized solution and the planner's allocation in period 0 differ only to the extent that their respective valuations of liquidity differ in constrained states of nature, with the difference captured by the externality kernel. By raising the private valuation to the social valuation of liquidity in all states of nature, a state-contingent tax on the issuance of Arrow securities allows the planner to replicate this allocation in a market setting.

**Proposition 7 (Macroprudential Taxation)** A planner who imposes a state-contingent proportional tax  $\tau^{\omega}$  on the issuance of Arrow securities  $b_1^{\omega}$  in period 0 restores constrained social efficiency. Compensatory transfers  $T_0$  and  $T_1^{\omega}$  as defined in (22) and (27) ensure that the resulting allocation constitutes a Pareto improvement.

To move our discussion from Arrow securities to more complex financial securities, assume that the economy is in the equilibrium described in the previous proposition and consider an atomistic banker who sells a unit of a financial claim in period 0 that has a state-contingent net payoff profile  $X^{\omega}$  in period 1. Such a claim can be viewed as a collection of Arrow securities with weights  $X^{\omega}$ . It can be interpreted alternatively as an investment in risky assets that is financed by uncontingent debt and yields a net payoff of  $X^{\omega}$ .

Corollary 2 (Taxation of Complex Securities) The externalities imposed by a financial payoff  $X^{\omega}$  are  $E[\tau^{\omega}X^{\omega}]$ . The optimal period 0 tax that induces a banker to internalize the full social cost of holding security  $X^{\omega}$  is

$$\tau_X^* = E[\tau^{\omega} X^{\omega}] = E[\tau^{\omega}] E[X^{\omega}] + Cov\left(\tau^{\omega}, X^{\omega}\right)$$
(31)

To gain some intuition, let us compare the magnitude of the externalities imposed by a number of securities with different payoff profiles. Figure 6 schematically depicts a few examples. First, for an uncontingent bond with a face value of one dollar, the payoffs are  $X^{\omega} = 1$  in all constrained and unconstrained states of nature. The optimal tax on such a bond is  $E[\tau^{\omega}]$ .

Next consider a risky security with an expected payoff  $E[X^{\omega}]$  of one dollar. The externality imposed by such a security is  $E[\tau^{\omega}] + Cov(\tau^{\omega}, X^{\omega})$ . If the payoff  $X^{\omega}$  of a security and the externality kernel have positive covariance, then the security imposes larger externalities and embodies more systemic risk than an uncontingent bond, and therefore calls for greater macroprudential taxation. A stark example would be a credit default swap, which is likely to require large payouts precisely in times of financial turmoil, i.e. when economy-wide financial constraints bind and when the externality kernel  $\tau^{\omega}$  is high.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The payoff profile drawn in figure 6 is not based on a specific analytical example but illustrates the assumption that defaults in the economy occur when the banking sector as a whole experience binding constraints.



Figure 6: Schematic payoff profile of uncontingent bond, equity and credit default swap

On the other hand, the more negatively the payoffs  $X^{\omega}$  of a security covary with the externality kernel, the more insurance the state-contingent payoff provides, the smaller the externality and the lower the optimal tax. An example would be if bankers sell equity paying dividends that are linear in the state of productivity  $A_1^{\omega}$ , which is by construction negatively correlated with  $\tau^{\omega}$ . Note that the optimal tax  $\tau_X^*$  is not bounded at zero. If a security offers sufficient systemic insurance benefits, i.e. it provides positive payoffs to bankers precisely when they are constrained and subject to financial amplification effects, then it imposes a positive systemic externality and should be subject to a subsidy, or a reduction in the capital that banks are required to hold. An example would be a credit default swap that shifts systemic risk to agents outside of the financial system who are not subject to financial constraints.

Equivalent Capital Adequacy Requirements While we have formulated our policy measures in terms of taxes, banking regulations typically take the form of capital adequacy requirements, which have tax-like effects since bank capital is costly. If the opportunity cost of holding one dollar of capital is  $\delta$  for a bank, then a tax  $\tau_X^*$  is equivalent to a capital requirement of  $\tau_X^*/\delta$ .

Macro- vs. Micro-Prudential Regulation Equation (31) captures that what matters for macroprudential regulation is not the general riskiness inherent in a security, as described e.g. by the variance of its payoff, but rather the correlation with systemic risk, as described by its covariance with the externality kernel  $\tau^{\omega}$ . This is commonly viewed to be an important feature of macroprudential regulation (Borio, 2003).

**Leverage** Leverage multiplies gains or losses by using uncontingent debt to increase the amount invested in a risky security. For example, if a risky investment with payoff  $X^{\omega}$  in period 1 is leveraged by a factor  $\alpha > 1$ , then  $(\alpha - 1)$  units are financed by debt and the total payoff is

$$\alpha X^{\omega} - (\alpha - 1) \frac{E[m_1^{\omega} X^{\omega}]}{E[m_1^{\omega}]}$$

where  $E[m_1^{\omega}X^{\omega}]$  is the period 0 price of the investment and  $\frac{1}{E[m_1^{\omega}]}$  is the risk-free interest rate. This amounts to an increase in the dispersion of the total payoff by a factor  $\alpha$ , which raises its covariance with the externality kernel in equation (31) equiproportionally and increases the externalities of the investment accordingly.

**Reach of Regulation** Our theory also offers insights into the question about the reach of regulation: macroprudential regulation should apply to any financial market participant who might potentially be forced to engage in fire-sales during periods of system-wide amplification effects, since a rational private actor would not internalize the price effects of such sales and the externalities on the financing constraints of other market participants. This includes hedge funds and other actors in the so-called "shadow financial system."

**Socially Risk-Neutral Probabilities** Pricing kernels can alternatively be represented as a risk-neutral probability measure that weighs states against which agents are risk-averse more highly. We can apply a similar transformation to the social planner's pricing kernel. If regulators instruct banks to employ the regulator's risk-neutral probabilities in their risk management systems, the externality that is the topic of this paper would be alleviated.

Analytically the socially risk-neutral probabilities can be obtained from the standard formula

$$g_{rn}(\omega) = \frac{g(\omega)\mu^{SP,\omega}}{E[\mu^{SP,\omega}]}$$

and the social value of a payoff  $X^{\omega}$  can be expressed as  $E_{rn}[X^{\omega}]$ , where  $E_{rn}[\cdot]$  represents the expectations operator under the socially risk-neutral probability measure defined by  $f_{rn}$ . This measure weighs states of the world in which amplification effects arise more highly than what would be indicated by a traditional 'privately' risk-neutral probability measure, which in turn assigns more weight to such states than the objective probability of that state. Market Discipline It has been argued that transparency requirements in conjunction with the market discipline embodied by pillar 3 of the Basel accord would induce banks to optimally smooth their capital position throughout the business cycle (see e.g. Gordy and Howells, 2006, for a discussion of this argument). In the absence of regulations of systemic externalities, our analysis suggests that markets would actually punish prudent banks that behave socially responsibly and would reward banks that take on socially excessive risks, since maximizing shareholder value involves excessive risk-taking.

## 5.3 Raising New Capital

Next we extend our model of the previous sections to study the incentives for bankers to raise capital. Suppose we introduce an audit technology that gives bankers a way around the pledgeability problem for period 2 payoffs. Specifically, assume that second-generation households can take ownership of a fraction  $\gamma$  of bankers' period 2 returns as long as they pay a convex auditing cost  $c(\gamma)$  in period 1, where c(0) = c'(0) = 0 and  $c'(\gamma), c''(\gamma) > 0$  for  $\gamma > 0$ . Since they are risk-neutral, they are willing to provide  $\gamma \bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1) - c(\gamma)$  in return for their ownership share.

The resulting version of the period 1 problem (10) of a decentralized banker is

$$V(a) = \max_{\{c_{1,b}, f_1, \gamma\}} c_{1,b} + (1-\gamma)\bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1) - \mu \left[c_{1,b} - a - q_1f_1 - \gamma\bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1) + c(\gamma)\right] + \lambda c_{1,b}$$

Similarly, total period 1 surplus S(a) can be formulated by modifying the planner's problem (23) analogously. For both private bankers and the planner, the optimality condition with respect to  $\gamma$  is

$$1 = \mu \left[ 1 - \frac{c'(\gamma)}{\bar{A}_2(t_1 - f_1)} \right]$$

As we observed in proposition 3,  $\mu^{DE} = \mu^{SP} = 1$  if the economy is unconstrained, implying that bankers and the planner will not raise new capital in period 1 and  $\gamma = 0$ . This is because raising new equity is not useful to relax liquidity constraints, but is costly because of the monitoring technology.

If the economy experiences binding constraints,  $\mu^{SP} > \mu^{DE} > 1$ , and the optimality condition implies that  $\gamma^{SP} > \gamma^{DE} > 0$ . A planner values liquidity more highly than decentralized agents and is therefore more willing than bankers to pay auditing costs to raise new equity. She internalizes that in doing so, she not only relaxes the constraint of the banker who obtains liquidity, but also pushes up the asset price at which all other bankers are fire-selling. **Proposition 8** A social planner would sell a higher equity stake  $\gamma^{SP} > \gamma^{DE}$  than decentralized bankers in states of binding constraints so as to mitigate financial amplification effects.

*Remark:* The fundamental difference between fire sales and raising new equity in our example is that fire sales lead to aggregate price declines, which entail pecuniary externalities on other agents, whereas equity issuance entails private costs to bankers that do not have external effects.

# 6 Conclusions

Financial markets are inherently pro-cyclical – financing constraints endogenously loosen in good times and tighten in bad times, and this phenomenon can entail financial amplification effects: in case of a negative aggregate shocks, bankers experience binding borrowing constraints, which may require them to cut back on their economic activity by selling some of their asset holdings. This depresses asset prices, deteriorates their balance sheets, leads to tighter financing conditions, requires further fire sales etc.

This paper demonstrate that such financial amplification effects introduce an externality into the economy that leads individual bankers to undervalue liquidity in crisis states. Small agents take asset prices – and the tightness of financing conditions – as given and do not internalize the general equilibrium effects of their actions on prices and constraints. In particular, they do not internalize that fire sales during crises depress asset prices, which trigger amplification effects that hurt other bankers in the economy.

The undervaluation of liquidity in crisis times in turn leads bankers to take on excessive risk and buy insufficient insurance in their financing decisions, and to undervalue the benefits of raising new capital in crises. While we have limited our analysis to the financing decisions of bankers in the initial period, the externality would also lead to excessive real investment in projects that create exposure to systemic risk, as highlighted e.g. by Lorenzoni (2008).

Our paper develops a stylized model that allows us to analytically examine these inefficiencies and investigate related policy measure. In our model, liquidity shortages in period 1 lead to fire sales, but there is no debt carried from period 1 to period 2. There are two directions along which our setup of financial constraints could be extended. First, in infinite horizon models of financial amplification such as Kiyotaki and Moore (1997), falling asset price also reduce the value of collateral and lower the amount of debt that can be carried forward through a 'dynamic multiplier' effect. This is explored in Jeanne and Korinek (2010) for the case of uncontingent financial contracts. Second, as emphasized e.g. by Geanakoplos (2009), changes in financial conditions are also reflected in endogenous changes in leverage. Both effects are likely to further strengthen the externalities of financial amplification effects.

# References

- Adrian, T. and Brunnermeier, M. (2008). CoVaR. Federal Reserve Bank of New York Staff Report, 348.
- Adrian, T. and Shin, H. S. (2010). Liquidity and leverage. Journal of Financial Intermediation, 19(3):418–437.
- Barro, R. J. (1974). Are government bonds net wealth? *Journal of Political Economy*, 82(6):1095–1117.
- Benmelech, E. and Bergman, N. K. (2011). Bankruptcy and the collateral channel. *Journal* of Finance, 66(2):337–378.
- Bernanke, B. S. and Gertler, M. (1990). Financial fragility and economic performance. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 105(1):87–114.
- Borio, C. (2003). Towards a macroprudential framework for financial supervision and regulation? *CESifo Economics Studies*, 49(2/2003):181–215.
- Caballero, R. J. and Krishnamurthy, A. (2003). Excessive dollar debt: Financial development and underinsurance. *Journal of Finance*, 58(2):867–894.
- Fisher, I. (1933). The debt-deflation theory of great depressions. *Econometrica*, 1(4):337–357.
- Geanakoplos, J. D. (2009). The leverage cycle. National Bureau of Economic Research Macroeconomics Annual 2009, 24:1–65.
- Geanakoplos, J. D. and Polemarchakis, H. M. (1986). Existence, regularity, and constrained suboptimality of competitive allocations when the asset market is incomplete. *Cowles Foundation Paper*, 652.
- Gordy, M. B. and Howells, B. (2006). Procyclicality in Basel II: Can we treat the disease without killing the patient? *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 15(3):395–417.
- Gromb, D. and Vayanos, D. (2002). Equilibrium and welfare in markets with financially constrained arbitrageurs. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 66(2-3):361–407.
- Hart, O. (1975). On the optimality of equilibrium when the market structure is incomplete. Journal of Economic Theory, 11:418–443.
- Hart, O. and Moore, J. H. (1994). A theory of debt based on the inalienability of human capital. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 109(4):841–879.
- Holmström, B. and Tirole, J. (1998). Private and public supply of liquidity. Journal of Political Economy, 106(1):1–40.
- Jeanne, O. and Korinek, A. (2010). Managing credit booms and busts: A Pigouvian taxation approach. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper*, w16377.

- Kiyotaki, N. and Moore, J. (1997). Credit cycles. *Journal of Political Economy*, 105(2):211–248.
- Korinek, A. (2009). Systemic risk: Amplification effects, externalities, and policy responses. Oesterreichische Nationalbank Working Paper, 155.
- Krishnamurthy, A. (2003). Collateral constraints and the amplification mechanism. *Journal* of *Economic Theory*, 111(2):277–292.
- Lorenzoni, G. (2008). Inefficient credit booms. *Review of Economic Studies*, 75(3):809-833.
- Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. W. (1997). The limits of arbitrage. *Journal of Finance*, 52(1):35–55.
- Stiglitz, J. E. (1982). The inefficiency of the stock market equilibrium. Review of Economic Studies, 49(2):241–261.

# A Mathematical Appendix

## A.1 Bankers

Assumption A.1 The parameters of the economy satisfy the following conditions:

- 1.  $\alpha t_1 \in (0, R_0^{\max}]$  where the ceiling  $R_0^{\max} = R_0(\nu^{\max})$  as defined in (18)
- 2.  $A^{\max}t_1 \le s^{\max} = F'(t_1)t_1$

Part 1. of the assumption guarantees that the initial investment requirement  $\alpha t_1$  is low enough that it can be financed by borrowing from first generation households. Specifically, the assumption guarantees that the shadow price of liquidity  $\nu$  lies within an interval  $(0, \nu^{\max}]$ for which the optimal repayment function  $b_1(\nu; A_1^{\omega})$  is defined for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ . For a larger initial investment requirement, bankers would run into one of the following problems: either  $\nu > \bar{\nu}(A^{\min})$ , which implies that they commit to repayments that they cannot meet in low states of nature even if they fire-sell their entire asset holdings; or  $\nu > \hat{\nu}(A^{\max})$ , which implies that their initial investment requirement is so large that they will have to fire-sell assets in all states of nature in period 1.

We could relax this assumption somewhat by imposing an explicit constraint on fire sales  $f_1^{\omega} \leq t_1$  and by including equilibria with binding constraints across all states of nature in our analysis, but this would not affect the main results of our analysis.

Point 2. implies that the collateral of bankers in period 1 valued at the lowest possible fire-sale price is sufficient to back up their maximum financial promise  $A^{\max}t_1$  in the highest state of nature in an equilibrium with partially binding constraints. It follows by implication that the collateral of bankers is sufficient to back up all equilibrium promises  $\{b_1^{\omega}\}$  in all states of nature. The marginal product  $F'(t_1)$  captures the marginal payoff of the asset for period 2, which represents all future periods of the economy, whereas  $A^{\max}$  captures the maximum payoff for period 1 only. The condition is therefore likely to be satisfied in practice. If there were binding constraints on  $b_1^{\omega}$  for some  $\omega$ , we would have to explicitly account for this constraint in our analysis, but the main results of our paper would still hold.

### A.2 First Generation Households

**Assumption A.2** The degree of relative risk aversion R(c) of first generation households satisfies

$$\frac{(A^{\max} + A_2)t_1}{e + (A^{\max} + \bar{A}_2)t_1} \cdot R(c) < 1 \ \forall \ c$$

Note that  $(A^{\max} + \bar{A}_2)t_1$  is an upper bound on what entrepreneurs can afford to repay to households in period 1 if they obtain the maximum possible output shock and fire-sell all of their assets at the maximum possible price  $\bar{A}_2$ ; therefore the contracted repayment  $b_1^{\omega} \leq (A^{\max} + \bar{A}_2)t_1$  and household consumption  $c_1^{\omega} \leq e + (A^{\max} + \bar{A}_2)t_1 \quad \forall \omega$ . The purpose of assumption A.2 is to ensure that the amount raised by Arrow securities is an increasing function of the promised repayment, i.e.

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dm_1^{\omega}b_1^{\omega}}{db_1^{\omega}} &= m_1^{\omega} + b_1^{\omega} \cdot \frac{\partial m_1^{\omega}}{\partial b_1^{\omega}} = m_1^{\omega} + b_1^{\omega} \cdot \frac{u''(c_1^{\omega})}{u'(c_0)} = \\ &= m_1^{\omega} \cdot \left[1 + \frac{b_1^{\omega}}{c_1^{\omega}} \cdot \frac{c_1^{\omega}u''(c_1^{\omega})}{u'(c_1^{\omega})}\right] = m_1^{\omega} \cdot \left[1 - \frac{b_1^{\omega}}{c_1^{\omega}} \cdot R(c_1^{\omega})\right] > 0 \quad \text{by A.2} \end{aligned}$$

The assumption is satisfied if the product of relative risk aversion and debt is sufficiently low. For the standard value of relative risk aversion used in macroeconomics R = 2 the assumption holds as long as the debt repayment received by households in period 1 makes up less than half of their consumption. This is plausible since approximately two thirds of household income derives from wages.

If the assumption was violated, then the amount of finance raised  $m_1^{\omega} b_1^{\omega}$  would fall as the promised repayment  $b_1^{\omega}$  rises because the pricing kernel of consumers  $m_1^{\omega}$  would fall faster than  $b_1^{\omega}$  increases. In such a situation, the economy may be subject to multiple equilibria, since different amounts of promised repayments could lead to the same amount of finance raised.

### A.3 Second Generation Households

Assumption A.3 The production function of second generation households satisfies

$$\eta_{qf} = -\frac{\partial q_1}{\partial f_1} \cdot \frac{f_1}{q_1} = -\frac{f_1 \cdot F''(f_1)}{F'(f)} < 1$$
(A.1)

This assumption is satisfied for most regular production functions. It guarantees that the revenue raised by fire sales is an increasing function of the amount of assets sold, i.e.

$$\frac{dq_1f_1}{df_1} = F'(f_1) + f_1F''(f_f) > 0$$

If this assumption was violated, there would be multiple levels of fire sales that would raise a given amount of liquidity.

### A.4 Proof of Lemma 2

The first part of lemma 2 holds since  $q(\cdot) = \bar{A}_2$  and the left-hand side of (28) reduces to 1 if  $\nu < \hat{\nu}(A_1)$ , thereby coinciding with the decentralized optimality condition (15).

For the second part, define the auxiliary equation

$$\left(\frac{\bar{A}_2}{q(b_1 - A_1 t_1)} - \eta\right) / (1 - \eta) = \nu \cdot \frac{u'(e + b_1)}{u'(e - \alpha t_1)}$$
(A.2)

and denote  $\tilde{b}_1(\nu; A_1, \eta)$  as the solution to this implicit equation in  $b_1$ . Observe that equation (A.2) reduces to the decentralized optimality condition (15) if we set  $\eta = 0$  and to the planner's optimality condition (28) if we set  $\eta = \eta_{qf}$ . The function  $\tilde{b}_1(A_1, \nu, \eta)$  is continuous

in  $\eta$  for  $\eta \leq 1$ . Applying the implicit function theorem we find that  $\partial \tilde{b}_1(\nu; A_1, \eta)/\partial \eta < 0$ for  $\nu > \hat{\nu}(A_1)$  since  $q(\cdot) < \bar{A}_2$  in that case. Fixing  $(\nu, A_1)$  and going from  $\eta = 0$  in (15) to  $\eta = \eta_{qf} > 0$  in (28) therefore implies that the solutions to the implicit equations have to satisfy  $b_1^{SP}(\nu; A_1) < b_1^{DE}(\nu; A_1)$ . Similarly, we determine that  $\partial^2 \tilde{b}_1(\nu; A_1, \eta)/\partial \eta \partial A_1 < 0$  for  $\nu > \hat{\nu}(A_1)$ , which confirms the last part of the lemma.